FILED

06/06/2025 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 25-0187

#### No. DA 25-0187

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

MONTANA CONSERVATION VOTERS; JOSEPH LAFROMBOISE; NANCY HAMILTON; SIMON HARRIS; DONALD SEIFERT; DANIEL HOGAN; GEORGE STARK; LUKAS ILLION; AND BOB BROWN,

#### Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

CHRISTI JACOBSEN, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS MONTANA SECRETARY OF STATE,

## Defendant and Appellee.

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District, Lewis & Clark County, Cause No. DV-25-2023-702-CR, Hon. Christopher Abbott

#### **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the District Court erred when it imposed an intent requirement for Plaintiffs' claim that the 2023 Montana Public Service Commission district map violates the right of suffrage by diluting non-Republican votes.

2. Whether the District Court erred when it applied an unduly deferential federal presumption of legislative "good faith" in evaluating Plaintiffs' claim that the 2023 Montana Public Service Commission district map violates the Montana Constitution's prohibition against political discrimination.

3. Whether the District Court erred in finding that the 2023 Montana Public Service Commission district map was not drawn intentionally to discriminate against non-Republican voters although it locked in all five Public Service Commission seats for Republicans.

4. Whether the District Court erred in recognizing, for the first time in Montana history, an absolute legislative privilege that barred Plaintiffs from obtaining relevant evidence in discovery.

## Appellants' Opening Brief

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2023, the legislature adopted Senate Bill 109 ("SB 109"), which created a new map for the Montana Public Service Commission ("PSC"). Because the SB 109 map only elects Republicans to the PSC, Plaintiffs challenged it for diluting non-Republican votes—violating Montanans' fundamental right of suffrage—and as an unconstitutional partisan gerrymander—violating Montanans' fundamental right to be free from discrimination based on political ideas. Doc. 1.

Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction on both claims on November 21, 2023. Doc. 6. The District Court correctly determined Plaintiffs' claims were justiciable and found Plaintiffs likely to succeed on their equal protection claim. Doc. 29. But the court found the balance of the equities favored leaving SB 109 in place during the litigation. *Id.* The District Court did not reach Plaintiffs' suffrage claim. *Id.* 

During discovery, Plaintiffs served document and deposition subpoenas on SB 109's sponsor, Senator Keith Regier, seeking evidence related to legislative intent and Regier's map-drawing approach. Regier asserted legislative privilege. As a matter of first impression, the District Court found that Montana state legislators enjoy absolute immunity

from civil discovery. Doc. 64.

Defendant Secretary of State Christi Jacobsen demanded a jury on all fact issues. Doc. 32. Plaintiffs moved to strike the jury demand. Doc. 35. The court correctly determined the Secretary had no right to a jury because Plaintiffs raised only equitable claims. Doc. 96. Nonetheless, the court empaneled an advisory jury on the question of discriminatory partisan intent. *Id.* 

The parties cross-moved for summary judgment in October 2024. Doc. 93; Doc. 101. Plaintiffs moved on their suffrage claim because the unopposed expert testimony conclusively established that SB 109 diluted non-Republican votes. Plaintiffs also moved on their equal protection claim because the undisputed facts showed that the legislature intended for SB 109 to lock in an all-Republican PSC. The court ruled that Plaintiffs established standing. Doc. 129. On the merits, the court determined that both claims required showing discriminatory intent and that whether partisan advantage was the "predominant factor" motivating the legislature's passage of SB 109 was a disputed fact. *Id.* If discriminatory intent was established, the court found that SB 109 could not satisfy strict scrutiny. *Id.* 

## Appellants' Opening Brief

Beginning on December 10, 2024, the District Court presided over a four-day trial on legislative intent. A divided panel of advisory jurors advised against finding for Plaintiffs. In its independent findings, the court erroneously ruled that Plaintiffs failed to show the legislature intended to favor Republican candidates and voters in enacting SB 109. Doc. 153. Plaintiffs timely appealed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### I. The PSC Redistricting Process

The PSC regulates public utilities and other industries. Doc. 113 at 2 (Final Pretrial Order). It consists of five members elected from single-member districts. *Id.* When the Montana Constitution was enacted, PSC commissioners were elected at-large. Doc. 153 at 3 (Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law, "FOFCOL"). As a result, the delegates had no reason to contemplate PSC redistricting. *See id.* Regarding redistricting more generally, the delegates recognized the legislature would not be "psychologically fitted to reapportion itself." Mont. Const. Conv., IV Verbatim Tr., at 685 (Feb. 22, 1972) (Del. Blend). Accordingly, they assigned redistricting authority for districted and popularly elected state and federal offices to the bipartisan Montana

Districting and Apportionment Commission ("Districting Commission"). Doc. 113 at 2.

In 1974, the legislature moved the PSC to district-based elections, assigning themselves the task of redistricting. See § 69-1-104, MCA. The 1974 districts remained unchanged until 2003, when the legislature redrew the map to reflect population changes. Doc. 113 at 2. The 2003 lines remained in place for two more decennial redistricting cycles. Id. In 2021, a group of Montanans successfully challenged the 2003 map as malapportioned in violation of one-person, one-vote. Id.; see Brown v. Jacobsen, 590 F. Supp. 3d 1273, 1286 (D. Mont. 2022). A three-judge federal court ordered the adoption of a new district map proposed by the Secretary. Doc. 113 at 2; *Brown*, 590 F. Supp. 3d at 1276, 1287. The court adopted the Secretary's map ("Secretary's Map") in part because it followed county lines, which the Secretary represented as traditional "state policy" for PSC districts. Doc. 113 at 3; Brown, 590 F. Supp. 3d at 1288-89. The Secretary's Map had a maximum population deviation between districts of 6.72%—well within the 10% allowed under federal equal protection principles-and thus satisfied the reapportionment needs resulting from population changes. Doc. 153 at 11; see also *Evenwel v. Abbott*, 578 U.S. 54, 59 (2016) (presuming state and local districts comply with the one-person, one-vote requirement where "the maximum population deviation between the largest and smallest district is less than 10%").

When the 2023 legislature convened, it appeared poised to adopt the Secretary's Map. Regier introduced SB 109 on January 4, proposing to codify the Secretary's Map. App. 001–02.

On January 6, the bipartisan Districting Commission submitted its proposed state legislative districts to the legislature. Doc. 153 at 5. The full legislature provided feedback on January 30. App. 033–40. The legislature jointly recommended six changes, four of which aimed to keep counties whole. *Id.* The Republican majority then offered separate criticisms of the map based on the partisan makeup of certain districts. *Id.* The majority identified at least 27 districts that its members believed were likely to elect Democrats. *Id.* 

While this back-and-forth was ongoing, Regier announced that a new PSC map was forthcoming. App. 054, 15:04:25. He proposed using the Montana Constitution's legislative redistricting criteria compactness, contiguity, and population balance—to draw the map. *Id.* 

at 15:04:03–29. He also suggested drawing districts within a plus-orminus 1% population deviation. *Id.* at 15:04:29.

On February 28, Regier introduced a new PSC map, drawn using the state house districts Republicans had criticized for partisanship. App. 056, 18:09:04. He said SB 109 followed contiguity and population deviation requirements, omitting compactness. *Id.* Although PSC districts traditionally follow county lines, *see* App. 059, 16:16:19, SB 109 split fourteen counties and six cities, App. 003–05. Regier asserted that he intended to achieve a plus-or-minus 1% population deviation, to use state house districts, and to split cities between two Commissioners. *See, e.g.*, App. 054, 15:04:29; App. 057, 14:58:04–59:55; App. 059, 16:17:34– 18:59.

Despite the majority's intense focus on partisanship in the state house districts, Regier asserted that he "didn't check" the partisan makeup of the PSC districts. App. 056, 18:17:34. He presented the map in hearings using Dave's Redistricting App, however, which shows the proposed districts' partisan makeup. *See id.* at 18:07:05 (displaying SB 109 in Dave's Redistricting); *see also* App. 012 (showing SB 109's partisan lean from Dave's Redistricting). Asked if he considered

communities of interest, Regier said no. App. 056, 18:15:25. Asked about "compactness," he said, "[t]he big emphasis was the population." *Id.* at 18:22:07–22:40. Asked why Butte was not split like other major cities, Regier stated that it just happened that way. App. 059, 16:10:17–11:33.

Senators questioned why the bill split so many cities and counties given the many possible ways to group house districts. App. 057, 14:55:24. Regier changed tunes, claiming that only population balance was required, and that contiguity and compactness only applied to legislative districts. *Id.* at 14:57:10. He said he would <u>oppose</u> a map that followed state house lines and had population equality, but was more compact and split fewer cities, because "we don't have to look at compactness." *Id.* at 15:01:54.

Every member of the public who testified on SB 109 opposed the map. App. 059, 15:46:19–57:39. An election judge testified that splitting cities and counties would confuse voters and complicate election administration. *Id.* Missoula's public works director voiced the city's opposition because having two commissioners would reduce citizens' influence. *Id.* 

When SB 109 reached the House Floor, carried by Representative Steven Galloway, legislators openly discussed the map's partisan implications. See, e.g., App. 061, 14:29:04–32:16 (Rep. Franz explaining) SB 109's partisan effects). Members had access to partisan lean data for SB 109 and several proposed amendments. See App. 008-14, 021-32. Galloway derided these as "the minority party singing the blues." Id. at 14:28:47–55. The first amendment followed state house district lines, had a <u>smaller</u> population deviation than SB 109, split just three counties and one city, and created two competitive districts. Id. at 14:34:10; see App. 015, 021. The next also followed state house district lines, had a smaller population deviation than SB 109, and split all seven Montana cities. App. 061, 14:37:23–39:36; see App. 18, 27. Both were voted down. App. 061, 14:34:10, 14:37:23. Galloway refused to answer questions about the bill. Id. at 14:43:55. In final comments, he described minority members' concerns about gerrymandering as "ironic." Id. at 14:47:32. Galloway asked, "How was it fine over here when they did the redistricting for our districts, but now, all of a sudden?" Id.

The House passed SB 109 on April 17, 2023, along party lines. That day, Republican Districting Commissioner Dan Stusek testified before

## Appellants' Opening Brief

the House Judiciary Committee on redistricting. He openly acknowledged the partisan intent of the PSC map, stating "I don't think it's lost on folks that maybe, because of the actions of the redistricting commission, there might have been some folks that thought—that wanted to use this opportunity and produce what resulted in the PSC map." App. 042, 09:35:11–35.

#### II. SB 109's Partisan Characteristics

Plaintiffs' expert, Dr. Stephanie Somersille, analyzed SB 109 using the "Ensemble Method." Dr. Somersille holds a PhD in mathematics and specializes in applying mathematical methods to redistricting. App. 126, Tr. 106:13–19, 108:11–15, 109:20–110:2. The District Court found her credible and persuasive and determined that her methodology was sound. Doc. 153 at 23.

Dr. Somersille evaluated whether SB 109 was drawn with partisan considerations in mind. Her analysis revealed that it was. She concluded that SB 109 was drawn to lock in a Republican advantage in all five PSC districts. App. 126, Tr. 114:1–7.

Dr. Somersille compared SB 109 to 500,000 algorithmically created Montana PSC maps. Initially, she generated four ensembles of 100,000

each. App. 126, Tr. 115:10-12. Each ensemble provided maps Dr. Somersille with a range of maps that allowed her to see what types of PSC maps are possible when specific map-drawing criteria are applied. Id. 110:9-23. The "Neutral Ensemble" created 100,000 maps with districts that were contiguous, reasonably compact, and had a population balance within 5% of the ideal population. Id. 114:13–21. The "Tighter Population Balance Ensemble" had the same constraints, except that districts were balanced within plus or minus 1%, consistent with Regier's stated goal. Id. 114:22-25. The third ensemble was identical to the Neutral Ensemble, except it minimized city and county splits. Id. 115:1:3. The fourth "Fully Constrained Ensemble" maintained compactness and contiguity, constrained population deviation by plus or minus 1%, and minimized city and county splits. Id. 115:4-9. Dr. Somersille used these criteria because they are traditional redistricting criteria in Montana. Id. 115:14-15, 117:11-23, 119:21-23; Mont. Const. art. V, § 14; Brown, 590 F. Supp. at 1288–89 (Secretary Jacobsen testifying that it is "state policy" for PSC districts to follow county lines).

Had SB 109 been drawn only to comply with traditional redistricting criteria, Dr. Somersille would expect its partisan effects to

fall within the range of maps created in her ensembles. App. 126, Tr. 120:9–18. Instead, her analysis revealed SB 109 as a significant outlier in terms of partisan effects—across all four ensembles. *Id.* 120:19–121:6. SB 109's partisan effects strongly indicated an intent to gerrymander the PSC map to elect only Republican candidates. *Id.* 121:7–136:12.

Dr. Somersille next considered whether relying on state legislative districts could explain SB 109's partisan characteristics. *Id.* 137:24– 139:40. She created a fifth 100,000 map ensemble using state house districts as the building blocks for PSC districts. *Id.* 139:11–17. SB 109 remained an outlier with respect to partisanship. *Id.* Ultimately, Dr. Somersille concluded that the criteria Regier claimed to have used to draw SB 109 could not explain the map's extreme partisan bias. *Id.* 142:11–13. Thus, she concluded SB 109 was drawn to lock in Republican representation across all five PSC districts. *Id.* 136:9–12.

The Secretary offered no expert testimony and did not dispute Dr. Somersille's analysis or conclusions. Instead, she merely asserted that Dr. Somersille's testimony was insufficient to overcome the presumption of legislative good faith. *Id.* 73:16–18, 79:5–25.

#### Appellants' Opening Brief

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law," over which this Court has "plenary review." *Mont. Democratic Party v. Jacobsen*, 2024 MT 66, ¶ 11, 416 Mont. 44, 545 P.3d 1074, *cert. denied* 145 S. Ct. 1125 (2025). "If the challenger shows an infringement on a fundamental right, a presumption of constitutionality is no longer available." *Id.* 

The Court reviews findings of fact for "clear error." *Id.* ¶ 12. "Clear error can be found by one of three ways." *In re Eldorado Coop Canal Co.*, 2016 MT 94, ¶ 17, 383 Mont. 205, 369 P.3d 1034. First, "[a] finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence." *Mont. Democratic Party*, ¶ 12. Second, "[e]ven if supported by substantial evidence, the finding may be clearly erroneous if the trier of fact misapprehended the effect of the evidence." *In re Eldorado Coop Canal*, ¶ 17. And third, "a finding may be clearly erroneous if, in light of the evidence as a whole, the reviewing court is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made." *Id.* 

|| ||

//

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Montana Constitution confers a clear and unequivocal right to vote. This right is essential to preserving all other civil and political rights. The Constitution also expressly prohibits discrimination based on political ideas.

The Montana legislature eschewed its constitutional duty to secure a free and unimpeded right to vote by creating PSC districts that deny non-Republican voters the opportunity to elect their candidates of choice. The legislature also violated its obligation to treat all voters equally regardless of their political leanings by intentionally prioritizing an all-Republican PSC over traditional districting criteria. The District Court erred in finding otherwise.

First, the District Court erred in concluding that Plaintiffs could not establish their right of suffrage claim without showing that the legislature had a discriminatory motive in enacting SB 109. Intent is not an element of a suffrage claim under the Montana Constitution. And courts, including federal courts, regularly consider effects-based vote dilution without requiring a showing of discriminatory intent. The unrebutted and undisputed testimony of Plaintiff's expert demonstrates

that SB 109 interferes with the right of suffrage by diluting the votes of non-Republican electors and denying them an equal opportunity to elect a candidate to the PSC. This is all that is necessary for Plaintiffs to prevail on their right of suffrage claim.

Second, the District Court erred in finding that advantaging Republican candidates and voters was not SB 109's predominant purpose. The District Court unduly deferred to the legislature using a federal common law presumption of "good faith" in applying the predominant purpose test. The Montana Constitution offers no such safe haven to legislators regulating elections. And such deference is even less appropriate in the redistricting context, where the delegates specifically sought to preclude legislators from exercising any authority.

Third, the District Court committed several legal and factual errors in determining that the legislature did not subordinate traditional redistricting principles in enacting SB 109. The court erred as a matter of law by accepting that the legislature's primary purpose was achieving population balance, instead of considering <u>how</u> the legislature assigned equal populations to different PSC districts. The court also erred in discounting the alternative maps Plaintiffs proffered, which established

that a rational legislature could have achieved its stated objectives without the same partisan effects. And the court erroneously rejected unrebutted expert testimony that SB 109 was drawn to lock in an all-Republican PSC and could not be explained by the legislature's purported map-drawing criteria. The court did so based on a legally and factually erroneous assumption that accepting the expert's conclusions would require it to find that Regier lied about how he drew the map. But Regier's statements were not actually inconsistent with the unrebutted expert testimony, making a choice between Regier and the expert unnecessary. The District Court further erred in affording Regier's legislative statements the same presumption of truth afforded witnesses who testify in court and under oath, and in failing to presume that the legislature intended the adverse consequences of its actions. Considering the foregoing errors, the advice of the divided jury panel—just one factor among many in the District Court's independent findings-does not preclude a finding for Plaintiffs.

Finally, the District Court erred in finding that legislators enjoy an absolute legislative privilege against civil discovery and precluding Plaintiffs from obtaining documentary and testimonial evidence from

#### Appellants' Opening Brief

Regier regarding how he drew SB 109. The court's ruling predated this Court's decision in *O'Neill* and thus errs in two critical ways: it relies on post-1972 precedent to create an exception to the fundamental right to know, and it creates that exception based solely on federal common law and federal separation of powers conceptions. *O'Neill* rejects both of these bases as a means for establishing a governmental privilege in Montana. At the time of the 1972 convention, it was settled law that legislators enjoy protections against civil and criminal liability for legislative acts. Applying a modern federal common law disclosure privilege that directly conflicts with the right to know and this Court's ruling in *O'Neill* was error.

This Court should reverse and remand to the District Court to enter judgment for Plaintiffs.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. SB 109 violates Plaintiffs' right of suffrage.

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