Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 25-0187

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 25-0187

MONTANA CONSERVATION VOTERS; JOSEPH LAFROMBOISE; NANCY HAMILTON; SIMON HARRIS; DONALD SEIFERT; DANIEL HOGAN; GEORGE STARK; LUKAS ILLION; and BOB BROWN,

Plaintiffs and Appellant,

v.

CHRISTI JACOBSEN, in her official capacity as Montana Secretary of State,

Defendant and Appellee,

and

STATE SENATOR KEITH REGIER,

Intervenor-Appellee.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County Cause No. DDV-2023-702, The Honorable Christopher Abbott, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Austin Knudsen

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

supplies no objective measure for assessing whether a districting map treats a political party fairly.

Rucho, 588 U.S. at 708 (internal citations omitted).

Even Justice Kagan's proposed holding in *Rucho*, that "[t]his much is too much," embodies the fool's errand of having courts police partisan debates. *Id.* at 744 (Kagan, J., dissenting). And as the *Rucho* Court identified, "[t]hat is not even trying to articulate a standard or rule." *Id.* at 716 (quoting *Rucho*, 588 U.S. at 744 (Kagan, J., dissenting)).

"[T]he original unanswerable question" is how much is too much? *Vieth*, 541 U.S. at 296–97 (plurality). "[J]udicial action must be governed by *standard*, by *rule* ... law pronounced by the courts must be principled, rational, and based upon reasoned distinctions." *Id.* at 278. Courts cannot create such standards or rules when dealing with inconsistent electorates, let alone electorates like the people of Montana, who pride themselves on their political independence and long tradition of ticket-splitting. *Compare Rucho*, 588 U.S. at 712 (describing how "partisan" gerrymandering backfired in Indiana and Pennsylvania, illustrating that "accurately predicting electoral outcomes is not so simple"). As a basic political and legal reality: Montana voters do not register by political party. Montanans elect candidates who have ideas they agree with. In Montana, there is no such thing as "classes" of "Republican voters" and "non-Republican voters."

Even if the Court could create discernible classes based on *party affiliation* or *non-affiliation*, the remedy would simply trade one constitutional injury for another. This Court has expressly rejected such an outcome. *Willems v. State*, 2014 MT 82, ¶34, 374 Mont. 343, 325 P.3d 1204 (declining to enjoin a map because "the purported violation of the right of suffrage would not be cured at all; it would simply be shifted to another set of voters."). Increasing the number of purported non-Republican voters to a majority within a particular district also purposefully reduces purported Republican voters to a minority. In the same way Appellants now claim harm, such a judicial solution would prevent purported Republican voters from "fairly influenc[ing] election results." (Doc. 1, ¶ 96.) That is precisely the sort of partisan horse trading that an apolitical judiciary must avoid.

Entering this partisan arena only invites an onslaught of litigation over every legislative map. "It would be idle ... to contend that any political consideration taken into account in fashioning a reapportionment plan is sufficient to invalidate it." *Gaffney*, 412 U.S. at 752. Look no further than Kendra Miller, a Democratic member of Montana's Districting and Apportionment Commission, who argues that "[t]here are no neutral redistricting criteria ... They're not partisan-neutral. None of them

are. These are political districts ... they have political impacts. The idea that there'd be a non-partisan way to draw political districts is silly."²

If the Court adjudicates this case, judicial "intervention [into partisan redistricting] would be unlimited in scope and duration—it would recur over and over again around the [state] with each new round of districting." *Rucho*, 588 U.S. at 719. Worst of all, it is likely that these cases would have wildly inconsistent outcomes that inflame partisan animosity. *Vieth*, 541 U.S. at 308 (Kennedy, J., concurring). This is not the way forward. Instead, this Court "must be wary of plaintiffs who seek to transform [the] courts into 'weapons of political warfare' that will deliver victories that eluded them 'in the political arena." *Alexander v. S.C. State Conf. of the NAACP*, 602 U.S. 1, 11 (2024) (citation omitted). Having no judicially discoverable or manageable standards, Appellants' cause here is non-justiciable.

C. The predominant-purpose framework from racial gerrymandering claims cannot graft onto partisan claims.

Because there was no adequate federal partisan gerrymandering framework, the district court turned to racial gerrymandering because "there is already a welldefined method for judicially adjudicating racial gerrymandering claims that can be

18

² Arren Kimbel-Sannit, *Explaining the why and the where of Montana's new legislative districts*, Mont. Free Press (Feb. 13, 2023) https://montanafreepress.org/2023/02/13/montana-redistricting-commission-finalizes-new-house-senate-maps/.

extended to gerrymandering predicated on other protected classes." ((Doc. 29 at 31) (citing *Ala. Legis. Black Caucus v. Alabama*, 575 U.S. 254, 260–61 (2015).) It thus analogized race to the "political . . . ideas" protected in Montana's Equal Protection Clause, Mont. Const. art. II, § 4. Appellants advocate for this Court to do the same. Appellants' Opening Br. at 20, 23. That reasoning does not hold water. Race and political ideas are not analogous.

Race "is an immutable characteristic determined solely by the accident of birth." *Frontiero v. Richardson*, 411 U.S. 677, 686 (1973). "[T]he imposition of special disabilities upon the members of a particular [race] because of their [race] would seem to violate 'the basic concept of our system that legal burdens should bear some relationship to individual responsibility." *Id.* (citation omitted). Courts necessarily must apply strict scrutiny and other burden-shifting regimes because our Constitution is colorblind. Political opinions are, however, elective and almost always morph over time. Rather than an accident of birth, they are an accident of circumstance. A rationale derived from immutable qualities simply does not apply to ideological differences between voters. Racial gerrymandering cannot provide the Court a workable standard for alleged partisan gerrymandering.

II. The district court correctly found SB 109 is constitutional.

None of Appellants' constitutional claims are meritorious even if they were justiciable. SB 109 does not infringe on the right to suffrage: nobody has lost the

ability to cast their vote, have it counted, or carry less weight than anyone else's vote. Nor does SB 109 fail to supply equal protection. In fact, it comports with constitutional redistricting criteria that are not even required of Commission districting. The advisory jury's findings buttress these conclusions: the Legislature lacked a discriminatory intent. The district court did not clearly err in adopting that finding, and its other findings that flow from the jury stand firm against Appellants' criticisms. This Court should affirm the judgment below.

A. SB 109 does not violate the right to suffrage.

Article II, § 13 of the Montana Constitution guarantees that "All elections shall be free and open, and no power, civil or military, shall at any time interfere to prevent the free exercise of the right of suffrage." Mont. Const. art. II, § 13; *see also Willems*, ¶ 32. To prevail on a right to suffrage challenge, "[p]laintiffs have the burden of demonstrating the law interferes with *all* electors' right to vote generally, or interferes with certain *subgroups*' right to vote specifically." *Mont. Democratic Party*, ¶ 34 (emphasis added); *see also Burns*, ¶ 19.

"Interference" usually requires a direct intervention that prevents somebody from casting their ballot. In *Montana Democratic Party*, for example, this Court invalidated a voter I.D. law because it barred certain subgroups of voters from accessing the polls. There, the Court emphasized that Montana has "long carefully scrutinized laws which interfered on the right [to suffrage.]" *Mont. Democratic*

Party, ¶ 23 (citing Harrington v. Crichton, 53 Mont. 388, 394–96, 164 P. 537 (1917)). The Court also remarked how, at the 1972 Convention, the suffrage clause prevailed as a response to obstruction tactics like unfair voter registration deadlines. *Mont. Democratic Party*, ¶ 27. The Court thus looked at burden placed on "the act of voting" itself. Id. (quoting Montana Constitutional Convention, Verbatim Transcript, February 17, 1972, Vol. III, p. 401). No Appellant alleges however that they were prohibited from voting in a Commission election. At trial, the district court erred in even allowing this testimony, because Appellants failed to list themselves on their pre-trial witness list. (Doc. 113 at 16.) Even so, every Appellant who testified at trial admitted that they could vote for their favored candidate in Commission elections. (Trial Tr. at 55:6–23 (Donald Seifert); 79:1–14 (Bob Brown); 94:21–95:8 (Daniel Hogan).) SB 109 does not interfere with Appellants' right to suffrage.

Alternatively, constructive interference occurs when the weight given to a citizen's vote is "debase[d] or dilut[ed]." *Big Spring v. Jore*, 2005 MT 64, ¶ 18, 326 Mont. 256, 109 P.3d 219 (quoting *Bush v. Gore*, 531 U.S. 98, 104–05 (2000) (citation omitted)). Vote dilution "refers to the idea that each vote must carry equal weight." *Rucho*, 588 U.S. at 709. "In other words, each representative must be accountable to (approximately) the same number of constituents." *Id.* SB 109 cannot dilute the vote as a matter of simple math: SB 109 divides one hundred legislative

districts between five Commission districts. Each Commission district thus contains twenty legislative districts, and each legislative district is around equal size according to the Redistricting Commission. So again, SB 109 does not violate Appellants' right to suffrage.

The U.S. Supreme Court, for example, presumes no vote dilution when a map has population deviance below 10%. *Evenwel*, 578 U.S. at 60. Everyone agrees SB 109 has a population deviance of less than 2%, which is well below the *Evenwel* presumption threshold. Contrary to Appellants' red herring argument on this point, other maps having similar or smaller population deviation than SB 109 is irrelevant to whether SB 109 dilutes the vote. *Contra* Appellants' Opening Br. at 22 (discussing proposed Amendment 5 to SB 109). SB 109 preserves population parity by grouping together twenty preexisting legislative districts five times. That simple math defeats a vote dilution claim.

Apellants' argument reduces to a conflation of dissimilar concepts through similar language. *See* Appellants' Opening Br. at 20 ("federal courts[] regularly consider effects-based vote dilution"). Under the federal Voting Rights Act, a plaintiff may allege racial vote dilution more broadly for voting schemes that "cause an inequality in the opportunities enjoyed by black and white voters." *Allen v. Milligan*, 599 U.S. 1, 17 (2023) (quoting *Thornburg v. Gingles*, 478 U.S. 30, 47 (1986)); *cf. Alexander*, 602 U.S. at 8 (explaining that racial dilution can be shown

by contrasting a racially gerrymandered map with an alternative map that does not depart from "traditional redistricting criteria"). But that is dissimilar to non-racial vote dilution. In the non-racial setting, vote dilution "does not mean that each party must be influential in proportion to its number of supporters." Rucho, 588 U.S. at 709. Courts accordingly vindicate "the individual rights of the people appearing before [them]," not "generalized partisan preferences." Id. Indeed, in the earlier Brown case, the federal court specifically found that "the vote dilution and vote deprivation concerns typically implicated by the Voting Rights Act are not implicated in this case." Brown, 590 F. Supp. 3d at 1287. Because racial discrimination is distinguishable from partisan classifications, the standards are not interchangeable. See supra at 22–23. And even if they were, there is no workable solution to Appellants' ephemeral "dilution" without also diluting other voters too. Appellants' real ask—to "shift" constitutional injuries between "set[s] of voters" is an equal protection violation disguised as a remedy. *Willems*, ¶ 34. That is wrong.

Ultimately, Appellants shoehorn proportional representation into the Montana Constitution's right to vote. Appellants' Opening Br. at 19; *contra Davids v. Akers*, 549 F.2d 120, 124 (9th Cir. 1977) ("to deny to Democratic members of the House proportional membership" is not "to deny ... the equal protection of the laws ... these propositions are non sequiturs). This approach is alien to our nation's winner-take-all system of elections. "It hardly follows from the principle that each person

must have an equal say in the election of representatives that a person is entitled to have his political party achieve representation in some way commensurate to its share of statewide support." *Rucho*, 588 U.S. at 708. Indeed, "[t]he mere fact that one interest group or another ... has found itself outvoted and without legislative seats of its own provides no basis for invoking constitutional remedies where, as here, there is no indication that this segment of the population is being denied access to the political system." *Whitcomb v. Chavis*, 403 U.S. 124, 154–55 (1971). Just because Appellants' preferred candidates do not prevail in Commission elections does not mean there is a constitutional violation. On the contrary, winning and losing shows the health of Montana's electoral system. But winning and losing cannot prove SB 109 violates the right to suffrage.

B. Courts must presume the Legislature enacted SB 109 in good faith.

Because SB 109 does not infringe on any fundamental rights, it is presumed to be constitutional and, as the district court correctly instructed the jury, promulgated in good faith. (Doc. 136 at 17 (Instruction No. 14).) This presumption survives unless a plaintiff proffers evidence of a discriminatory legislative intent.³

³ Predicate facts in constitutional litigation must be proven "beyond a reasonable doubt." *Gianforte*, ¶ 32. Thus, the Secretary of maintains that the district court erred in applying the preponderance of the evidence standard to the question of legislative intent. *See* Instruction No. 14. The preponderance standard is anomalous in this context: "Courts exercising judicial review in every state require the conflict between a statute and the state constitution to be 'clear,' rather than simply shown

The district court was correct that Appellants did not produce this evidence and the Legislature enacted SB 109 in good faith. (See Doc. 153, FOF ¶¶ 60–61.)

Appellants presented <u>no</u> direct evidence of a discriminatory intent, either from Senator Regier or any legislator or the Legislature as a whole, and they presented limited circumstantial evidence in their attempt to show the Legislature acted with bad faith related to SB 109. *Id.* Instead, as Senator Regier said, he "didn't check" the "partisanship of the new districts." (Doc. 1, \P 57); *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 5-1-115(3)(b)–(d) (prohibiting the use of partisan data in legislative and congressional districting). This is a far cry from the bona fide cases of partisan gerrymandering that often occur in this country. *E.g.*, *Rucho*, 588 U.S. at 691 (noting how lead sponsor for redistricting bill said "I think electing Republicans is better than electing Democrats. So I drew this map to help foster what I think is better for the country"

by the preponderance of the evidence." Christopher R. Green, *Clarity and Reasonable Doubt in Early State-Constitutional Judicial Review*, 57 S. Tex. L. Rev. 169, 170 (2015). Admittedly, this issue has not been appealed and is not before this Court at this time. But it bears reiterating the law: This Court holds that legislation is "presumed to be constitutional, and the party challenging a statute's constitutionality bears the burden of proving it unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." *Barrett v. State*, 2024 MT 86, ¶ 13, 416 Mont. 226, 547 P.3d 630. This standard has stood strong for nearly 130 years. *State v. Camp Sing*, 18 Mont. 128, 138, 44 P. 516, 517 (1896). In fact, Montana has relied on it more often than any other state judiciary. Hugh Spitzer, *Reasoning v. Rhetoric: The Strange Case of "Unconstitutional Beyond A Reasonable Doubt*," 74 Rutgers U. L. Rev. 1429, 1440 (2022) (identifying at least 74 instances in Montana caselaw). While the district court erred in instructing the jury on a lower standard, that error is harmless because even under this lower standard, the jury still correctly found that the Legislature did not have a discriminatory intent in enacting SB 109.

and that he only drew a map with 10 Republican seats because he did "not believe it would be possible to draw a map with 11 Republicans") (citations omitted). Nothing in the record contradicts Senator Regier's statements on the record. (Doc. 153, FOF ¶ 60.) That forecloses the matter, because official proceedings sufficiently establish legislative intent or motive. *City of Missoula v. Pope*, 2021 MT 4, ¶ 17 n.1, 402 Mont. 416, 478 P.3d 815.

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